

## Exhibit D

### **BYLAWS of the CALIFORNIA INTERGOVERNMENTAL RISK AUTHORITY**

#### **ARTICLE I. PREAMBLE**

The California Intergovernmental Risk Authority (“CIRA” or “the Authority”) is established for the purposes and under the authorities described in its Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (“Agreement”). The Agreement specifies that Bylaws will govern many of the operations of the Authority, and defines certain terms used in these Bylaws.

#### **ARTICLE III. NEW MEMBERS**

Any California public agency that provides municipal services may become a Member of the Authority by agreeing to be bound by the Governing Documents and by complying with all of the following requirements:

- A. Submit a completed application for membership 90 days before the start of the fiscal year, including any required application fee;
- B. Submit a signed resolution acknowledging participation under the terms and conditions which then prevail;
- C. Execute the Agreement then in effect and agree to be bound by any subsequent amendments to the Agreement;
- D. Agree to be a Member for at least five consecutive fiscal years after commencement of membership or, if a member of the Public Agency Risk Sharing Authority of California (PARSAC) or the Redwood Empire Municipal Insurance Fund (REMIF) as of June 30, 2021, for two fiscal years after that date;
- E. Be accepted for membership by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors;
- F. Appoint, in writing, a representative to act as Director on the Authority’s Board and another to act as alternate Director in the absence of the Director, who shall be officers or employees of the Member; and
- G. Ensure the Director and alternate Director file with the Authority the required Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC) forms upon assuming office, annually, and upon termination of office.

Before the Board votes on a potential Member’s application, there shall be a review and interview of the applicant, in accordance with the Underwriting Guidelines, including the applicant’s most recent audited financial statement and associated management letters. This review may also include a safety inspection of the facilities of the applicant. A two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors is required to approve the

## Exhibit D

application, based upon the application, and any inspections, reports, or other material pertinent to the decision.

### **ARTICLE IV. MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES**

Each Member is responsible for the following:

1. Cooperation with the Authority, its insurers, adjusters and legal counsel in determining the cause of losses in settling claims, and supporting effective risk management and risk transfer decisions;
2. Timely payment of all contributions, assessments, interest, penalties, or other charges imposed consistent with the Governing Documents;
3. Providing the Authority with statistical and loss experience and other data as requested.
4. Execution of a membership resolution for each Program in which the Member participates.
5. Appointing a representative and alternate to represent the Member on the Authority's Board, expressly authorizing such representatives to act on behalf of the Member on all matters coming before the Board, and assuring that its representative or alternate regularly attend meetings of the Board and any committee to which a representative has been appointed.
6. Execution of amendments to this Agreement as set forth in Article XV; provided, however, the Member may, by resolution or ordinance, authorize its representative on the Board to approve and execute amendments on behalf of the Member without the necessity of a resolution or ordinance of the legislative body of the Member confirming or ratifying such amendment.
7. As required by the Authority, undertake risk management audits of its facilities and activities, conducted by a person and/or firm approved by the Authority and provide evidence of correction, elimination and/or clarification of all noted deficiencies or recommended corrections to the satisfaction of the Authority.
8. Use of an Authority-approved third-party claims administrator.
9. Payment for the costs of staffing and supporting the Authority ("general expenses") shall be funded by the Members in accordance with the Board's allocation of general expenses to the Authority's various Programs.

### **ARTICLE V. GOVERNING BOARD**

- A. The governing body of the Authority shall be the Board of Directors (Board). The Board shall be comprised of one Director from each Member. Each Director has one vote. An alternate Director may cast a vote only in the absence of the Director. Each Director and alternate Director must be an officer or employee of the Member. A Member may change any of its representatives to

## Exhibit D

- the Board only by written notification to the Authority from the Member's governing body or the Member's Chief Executive Officer or equivalent.
- B. The Board shall provide policy direction for the General Manager, the Executive Committee, any other standing committees, and any administrative or legal service providers to the Authority. The Board may delegate any or all of its responsibilities, except those requiring a vote by the Board as specified in the Governing Documents.
- C. As to Program-specific agenda items, only the Directors representing Members that participate in that Program may vote, and as to such items a quorum shall be determined by reference to the number of Members participating in the Program. As to agenda items relating to all liabilities and obligations of CIRA existing prior to the Effective Date ("Preexisting Obligations"), only Directors representing Members who were members of the Authority prior to the Effective Date may vote, and as to such items, a quorum shall be determined solely by reference to the number of Members that were members of the Authority prior to the Effective Date.
- D. The Board reserves unto itself the authority to do the following (except where specifically noted, a simple majority of the Board present at a meeting may take action):
1. Accept a new Member to the Authority (two-thirds vote of the Board);
  2. Accept indebtedness (two-thirds vote of the entire Board);
  3. Adopt a budget;
  4. Amend these Bylaws;
  5. Elect and remove Officers;
  6. Expel a Member from the Authority (two-thirds vote of the Board);
  7. Approve dissolution of Authority (two-thirds vote of the entire Board); and
  8. Approve financing costs from one Program to another (Program to Program borrowing) if such financing extends beyond a twelve-month period.
- E. The Board will meet at least once a year to review the operations of the Authority. The Board will establish a time and place to hold such regular meetings. The Board Secretary will mail notices of all Board meetings to each Member, keep minutes of the meetings, and send copies of such minutes to the Members.
- F. A special meeting may be called by the president or by a majority of the Board with twenty-four (24) hours' notice, stating the purpose, date, time, and place of the meeting, provided such notice is in writing.
- G. Every Member is expected to have its Director or alternate attend Board meetings.

## Exhibit D

- H. All meetings of the Board shall be conducted in accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government Code §54950 et seq.)
- I. A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Directors then appointed and serving, without counting vacancies. All matters within the purview of the Board may be decided by a majority vote of a quorum of the Board, except as specified otherwise in the Governing Documents.

### **ARTICLE VI. OFFICERS**

- A. The officers of the Authority shall consist of a President, a Vice President, a Treasurer, an Auditor/Controller, and a Secretary. The Board shall elect the President, Vice-President, Treasurer, and Auditor/Controller. The President, Vice-President, and Auditor/Controller must be directors on the Board. The Treasurer may be a Director, an employee of the Authority, or an employee of a Member, and if the Treasurer is an employee of a Member the employee need not be the Member's designated representative on the Board. The General Manager shall serve as Secretary.
- B. Initial officers shall serve staggered terms with the President and Treasurer serving a two-year term and Vice President and Auditor/Controller serving a one-year term. The terms of office for subsequent officer elections shall be two years. The President and Auditor/Controller will be elected in odd-numbered years and the Vice President and Treasurer will be elected in even-numbered years.
- C. Initial officers (other than the Secretary) shall be elected at the first meeting of the Board of Directors. At least 30 days before each subsequent election, the President may appoint a nominating committee as set forth in these Bylaws or propose a slate informally.
- D. The nominating committee's nomination of candidates for elected officer positions shall be made in writing, and the slate of nominees will be sent to each Member at least seven (7) days before the last regular Board meeting of the fiscal year. Additional candidates for any of the offices may be made by an open nomination and second from the floor at the time of the meeting.
- E. The election of officers will be held at the last regular Board meeting of the fiscal year in which their terms expire or at a special meeting called for that purpose. Those candidates receiving a majority of votes cast for each office will succeed to those offices. If no nominee receives a majority of the vote, the nominee with the least votes shall be deleted as a nominee and a new vote taken. This elimination process will continue until one nominee receives a majority vote. Each Director or, in the absence of that Director, the Director's alternate, shall be eligible to vote.
- F. Each elected officer will serve until the next election of officers, or termination of his or her employment with the Member, or until removal from office by a majority vote of the Board, whichever is earliest.
- G. The Board shall make the appointment to a vacancy in the office of the President. Vacancies in any other office shall be filled by appointments by the President with ratification by the Board at

## Exhibit D

the next Board meeting held after the vacancy occurs. In the event that the Board fails to ratify an appointment, the President shall make another appointment which will be subject to ratification by the Board.

- H. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Authority. The President shall, with the consent of the Board or Executive Committee, appoint representatives to the board of any joint powers authority of which the Authority is a Member, and shall make all Committee appointments with the exception of the Executive Committee. The President shall execute documents on behalf of the Authority as authorized by the Board and shall serve as the primary liaison between the Authority and any other organization. The President shall serve as a member of the Executive Committee and as a nonvoting ex-officio member of all other Committees.
- I. In the absence or temporary incapacity of the President, the Vice-President shall exercise the functions of the President. The Vice-President shall serve as member of the Executive Committee and as a nonvoting ex-officio member of all other committees when the President is unable to attend.
- J. The Auditor/Controller shall be responsible for the duties and functions prescribed by Government Code Section 6505.6, as well as any other duties as may be specified by the Board or the Executive Committee. The Auditor/Controller may appoint an assistant to serve as needed, provided such assistant shall not be an employee or public official of the same Member as the Auditor/Controller. In the absence of both the President and Vice President at any one meeting, the Auditor/Controller shall preside over that meeting only and shall have powers and duties as may be required by the Board for this purpose. If the President, Vice-President, and Auditor/Controller will be absent from any one meeting, any of them may designate a director to preside over the meeting, but the designated director shall have only the powers and duties as may be required by the Board for this purpose.
- K. The Secretary shall be responsible for preparing all minutes and agendas of the Board, the Executive Committee, and any other Committee meetings, preparing necessary correspondence, and maintaining files and records.
- L. The Treasurer shall have no vote on the Board or Executive Committee unless the Treasurer is a designated representative of a Member to the Board. The Treasurer shall have the responsibility to establish and maintain such funds and accounts as may be required by accepted accounting practices and procedures prescribed by the Government Accounting Standards Board and by the Board. Separate accounts shall be established and maintained for each Program Year of each Program. Books and records of the Authority in the hands of the Treasurer or other designated person shall be open to inspection at all reasonable times by members of the Board or authorized representatives of the Members. The Treasurer shall disburse Authority funds, accounts, and property, in accordance with the Government Code and at the direction of the Board.
- M. An Officer Emeritus is a retired or former member of the Authority's or REMIF's Executive Committee or Board of Directors, preferably an Officer, having served three terms or more on the Executive Committee or six years on the Board for each agency. The Officer Emeritus serves to maintain the institutional knowledge, culture, and practice of CIRA. The Officer Emeritus is

## Exhibit D

independent and does not represent any Member. The Officer Emeritus attends and may participate in meetings but does not vote. The Officer Emeritus may represent CIRA as directed and may serve as a mentor or advisor as needed and available. The Officer Emeritus receives a stipend as determined by the Board via resolution and reimbursement for reasonable travel expenses. The Executive Committee shall appoint up to two Officers Emeritus to be affirmed by the Board. The Officer Emeritus position will be re-evaluated by the Board after five years.

### **ARTICLE VII. COMMITTEES**

- A. Executive Committee. There shall be an Executive Committee to conduct the day-to-day business of the Authority. The Board may create other committees, standing or temporary, as it deems necessary.
- B. All committee meetings shall be conducted in accordance with applicable law, including but not limited to the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government Code § 54950, et seq.). For all committees, a quorum shall consist of a majority of committee members then appointed and serving, without counting vacancies. All matters within the purview of a committee may be decided by a majority vote of a quorum of the committee, except as specified otherwise in the Governing Documents.
- C. The Executive Committee shall be composed of thirteen members including the President, Vice-President, Treasurer (if a Board Member), and Auditor/Controller, and nine (or ten, if necessary) other individuals, all of whom must be Directors and not alternates. Five of the nine shall be elected by the Board in even numbered years and four (or five, if necessary) shall be elected by the Board in odd numbered years. One each shall be elected by the Directors in each of three regions designated by the Board. One each shall be elected by the Directors in each of three size categories (small, medium, and large) designated by the Board. Three (or if necessary four) shall be elected at large. Executive Committee members may be re-elected without restriction. All nine shall be elected in the first election following adoption of these Bylaws, with either four or five being designated to serve an initial term of one year until the next election depending on whether the next year is odd or even. For the first two elections after these Bylaws become effective on July 1, 2021, at least five members of the Executive Committee shall be from former members of the Redwood Empire Municipal Insurance Fund. No Member shall be represented by more than one member on the Executive Committee.
- D. Members of the Executive Committee may be removed with or without cause by the Board, which shall elect replacements for the vacancies caused by such removal. Members may also be removed for failure to attend two consecutive meetings without reasonable excuses. The President may appoint replacements to fill any vacancies caused by death, disability, resignation, disqualification, or removal for unexcused absences, and such appointees shall serve until the next meeting of the Board, at which time the selection of replacement shall be ratified or another replacement elected.
- E. The Executive Committee may exercise all powers and authority of the Board, except those reserved to the Board as set forth in Article V.D. The Executive Committee may make recommendations to the Board on matters including a change in Members' retention levels, approval of the annual budget, and approval of new Members. The Executive Committee may also establish subcommittees, define their functions and responsibilities and appoint members

## Exhibit D

to them; appoint or terminate the General Manager; and exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as these Bylaws or the Board may prescribe.

- F. PARSAC Committee. The Board shall appoint a committee made up of representatives of Authority members that were members prior to the Effective Date to make recommendations to the Board regarding the administration of the Preexisting Obligations.
- G. Personnel Committee. The Officers (not including the Secretary or any Treasurer who is not a Director) and two other Directors appointed by the President (three if the Treasurer is not a Director) shall serve collectively as the Personnel Committee, with the authority to oversee, review and recommend action to be taken by the Executive Committee regarding the performance and compensation of the General Manager and any other personnel issues.

### **ARTICLE VIII. GENERAL MANAGER**

- A. The General Manager shall be the Chief Administrative Officer and Secretary of the Authority, appointed by the Board and serving at the pleasure of the Board. The General Manager may not be an employee or an officer of a Member.
- B. The General Manager shall be responsible for administering the operations of the Authority, including giving notices of meetings, posting of agendas for meetings, preparation of minutes of meetings, maintenance of all accounting and other financial records of the Authority, filing of all financial reports of the Authority, reporting activities of the Authority to Members, and other such duties as the Board may specify.
- C. The General Manager shall appoint all staff positions of the Authority, subject to budget approval by the Board, and shall be responsible for their supervision.
- D. The General Manager shall attend all meetings of the Board and Executive Committee

### **ARTICLE IX. SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS**

- A. The General Manager shall have authority to settle workers compensation, property and liability claims up to the limit specified by Board policy but not to exceed the actual amount of the claim. The Executive Committee, Board, or a designated claims committee, if appointed, shall have authority to settle claims beyond the authority of the General Manager.
- B. For workers' compensation claims, staff has standing authority to pay benefits due under workers' compensation law for medical benefits, temporary disability, etc. and to resolve permanent disability claims up to statutory requirements. Any settlements for permanent disability and/or a compromise and release exceeding the statutory requirements may be settled by the General Manager, or by the Executive Committee or Board for amounts in excess of the General Manager's authority up to the Authority's limit of coverage.

## Exhibit D

### **ARTICLE X. FINANCIAL AUDIT**

- A. The Auditor/Controller shall cause an annual audit of the financial accounts and records of the Authority to be made by a qualified, independent individual or firm. The minimum requirements of the audit shall be those prescribed by law.
- B. The financial audit report shall be filed with the State Controller's Office within six months of the end of the fiscal year under examination. A copy of the audit report shall be filed as a public record with each Member.
- C. The costs of the audit shall be charged against the operating funds of the Authority.

### **ARTICLE XI. FISCAL YEAR**

- A. The fiscal year of the Authority shall be the period from July 1 of each year through June 30 of the subsequent year.

### **ARTICLE XII. BUDGET**

- A. A draft budget shall be presented to the Board at the last scheduled Board meeting prior to July 1 of the next fiscal year.
- B. The Board shall adopt the annual budget by July 1 of each year.

### **ARTICLE XIII. ESTABLISHMENT AND ADMINISTRATION OF FUNDS**

- A. The Authority is responsible for the strict accountability of all funds and reports of all receipts and disbursements. It shall comply with every provision of law relating to the subject, particularly Section 6505 of the Government Code. The Treasurer shall receive, invest, and disburse funds only in accordance with procedures established by the Board and in conformity with applicable law.
- B. The funds received for each Program shall be accounted for separately on a full-accrual basis. The portion of each Program's annual contribution allocated for payment of claims and losses shall be held by the Authority in trust for the Program members.
- C. The Treasurer may invest funds not required for the immediate operations of the Authority, as directed by the Board or Executive Committee, in the same manner and on the same conditions as local agencies as provided by Government Code Section 53601.
- D. The General Manager shall draw warrants to pay demands against the Authority, after such demands have been approved by both the President and the Treasurer, except for employee payroll and benefits disbursements, and other unusual or urgent circumstances as determined

## Exhibit D

by the General Manager. All checks disbursing funds of the Authority shall be signed by at least two Authority officials, one of whom must be the General Manager or designee.

- E. Officers, directors and employees handling funds shall be properly bonded as determined by the Board or Executive Committee.

### **ARTICLE XIV. PROGRAMS**

- A. The Authority shall establish Programs in such areas as the Board may select including, but not limited to, the areas of property, workers' compensation, and liability coverage.
- B. Coverage in a Program may be provided by a self-funded risk-sharing pool, participation in pooled excess self-insurance, purchased insurance, reinsurance or any combination thereof, as determined by the Board or Executive Committee.
- C. The Authority may authorize and use administrative funds to study the feasibility and development of new Programs. If a new Program is approved by the Board, the estimated contributions to fund the Program shall be developed and presented in writing to each Member. Each Member shall have sixty (60) days from the date of such notice to state in writing its intent to join or refrain from joining the new Program. Unless the Member provides written notice to the Authority of its intent to participate in the new Program, it shall be presumed that the Member declines to participate in the Program. Upon conclusion of the notice period, the final contributions will be determined and billed to the Members in the new Program. Each Member that elected to participate will be bound to the new Program for the period of time required by the Master Program Document.
- D. The Board will adopt and maintain a Memorandum of Coverage and Master Program Document, and determine the financial contributions to be required of the Members for each Program. The Memorandum of Coverage or Master Program Document shall, among other things, establish procedures for addressing claims disputes.
- E. Each Program will be financially self-contained and individually evaluated for administrative and equity allocation purposes. Each fiscal year within each Program shall be separately accounted and maintained. Program funds may be co-mingled with the funds of another Program for durations shorter than a twelve-month period, or when specifically allowed by the Board.
- F. Each Member shall cooperate fully with the Authority to provide underwriting and safety and loss control information. Additionally, each Member shall comply with the provisions of the annual Safety and Loss Prevention Program Plan as approved by the Board.
- G. Members with delinquent amounts due may be assessed a penalty which shall be set by the Authority.
- H. The condition of each Program shall be evaluated by an independent actuary. The Workers' Compensation and Liability Programs shall receive such evaluation on an annual basis. Other Programs shall be evaluated as determined by the Board. The condition of each open fiscal year within each such Program shall be evaluated to determine its actuarial soundness. If it is

## Exhibit D

determined by the actuary that any year is no longer actuarially sound, appropriate actions shall be taken. In addition, the Board reserves the right to assess all Members and/or the Members of any Program an amount determined by the Board to be necessary for the soundness of the Program and to allocate such assessment in a fair and equitable manner.

- I. The withdrawal or expulsion of a Member from any Program shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Master Program Document.
- J. The withdrawal or expulsion of any Member from any Program shall not terminate the Member's responsibility to contribute its share of contributions, or funds, to any fund or Program in which it participated, nor its responsibility to provide requested data for the periods in which it participated. All current and past Members shall be responsible for their respective share of the expenses, as determined by the Authority, until all claims, or other unpaid liabilities covering the period of the Member's participation in the Program, have been finally resolved and a determination of the final amount of payments due by, or credit to, the Member for the period of its participation has been made by the Board. Past Members shall receive any distribution of surplus based on the same methodology as current Members. The withdrawal or expulsion of any Member from any Program shall not require the repayment or return to that Member of all or any part of any contributions, payments, advances, or distributions except in conformance with the provisions as set forth herein and in the Master Program Document.
- K. The Treasurer may deposit and invest Authority funds, subject to the same requirements and restrictions that apply to deposit and investment of the general funds of a city incorporated in the State of California and in accordance with the Investment Policy adopted annually by the Board.
- L. The accounting method for each Program will be in accordance with the provisions of the Master Program Document and the principles established by the Government Accounting Standards Board.

### **ARTICLE XV.**

#### **WITHDRAWAL, DEFAULTS AND EXPULSION FROM THE AUTHORITY**

- A. Withdrawal from a Program
  - 1. Any Member which withdraws as a participant in any Program may renew participation in that Program by complying with all Program rules and regulations.
  - 2. All Members must participate in at least one of the following two Programs: Workers' Compensation and Liability. If withdrawal from a Program would result in the Member no longer participating in either of these two Programs, then such withdrawal shall constitute withdrawal as a party to the Joint Powers Agreement, subject to the Member's continuing obligations outlined in this Agreement and any other relevant governing documents. Withdrawal from the Authority pursuant to this Section A requires one year's notice of intent to withdraw as described in Section B below.

## Exhibit D

### B. Withdrawal from the Authority

1. A withdrawing Member must notify CIRA of its intention to withdraw at least one year prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the Member intends to withdraw, unless a shorter withdrawal period is approved by the Executive Committee, in its sole discretion.
2. Withdrawing Members shall forfeit any remaining equity. In addition to foregoing equity, withdrawing members shall be subject to an administrative fee equal to their pro-rata share of ongoing expenses for the three program years following withdrawal. Ongoing expenses include but are not limited to staff payroll and benefits, actuarial services, investment services, financial audits, and claims administration. The withdrawing member will be invoiced its portion of the administrative fee for each of the three years, as outlined in the Master Program Document.
3. Following withdrawal, any Member which was a participant in any Program shall be responsible for its share of any additional amount of contribution, determined by the Board in accordance with the retrospective contribution adjustment, which may be necessary to enable final disposition of all claims arising from losses under that Program during the withdrawn Member's period of participation. Any such additional contribution shall be taken first from the Member's forfeited equity, if any, and if such equity is insufficient the withdrawn Member shall be responsible to pay the difference.
4. A notice of intent to withdraw may be rescinded in writing with Executive Committee consent at any time earlier than ninety (90) days before the expiration of the withdrawal period, except that any withdrawal approved by the Executive Committee upon less than six (6) months' notice shall be final.

### C. The following shall be "defaults" under the Agreement and these Bylaws:

1. Failure by a Member to observe and/or perform any covenant, condition, or agreement under the Governing Documents, including but not limited to risk management or loss reporting procedures;
2. Consistent failure to attend meetings by a Member's designated representative or alternate, submit requested documents, or cooperate in the fulfillment of the Program objectives;
3. Failure to pay any amounts, including penalties and interest, due to the Authority for more than thirty (30) days;
4. Consistent inability to sustain the financial and insurance criteria that was reviewed and considered upon application for membership. For example, excessive losses, financial distress of member, handling of legal matters, corrective actions and other areas as determined by the Board;

## Exhibit D

5. The filing of a petition applicable to the Member in any proceedings instituted under the provisions of the Federal Bankruptcy Code or under any similar act which may hereafter be enacted; or
6. Any condition of the Member which the Board believes jeopardizes the financial viability of the Authority.

### C. Remedies on Default

1. Whenever any default has occurred, the Authority may exercise any and all remedies available pursuant to law or granted pursuant to the Agreement and these Bylaws including, but not limited to increasing a Member's retention, penalty, or assessment, canceling a Member's coverage, or expelling the Member. However, no remedy shall be sought for defaults until the Member has been given thirty (30) days' notice of default by the Authority.
2. Probation of a Member from a Program and/or Authority:
  - a. If deemed appropriate by the Authority a member may be put on probation for a defined period of time to remedy any stated failures or matters noted in this Article.
  - b. Notice of such probation shall be in writing and signed by both parties.
  - c. The probation remedies and timelines shall be stated clearly in the notice of probation so that the Authority's actions at the end of the probation period are understood by both parties.
3. Expulsion of a Member from the Authority:
  - a. The Board, with at least a two-thirds vote, may expel any Member that is in default from the Authority.
  - b. Such expulsion shall be effective on the date prescribed by the Board, but not earlier than thirty days after notice of expulsion has been personally served or sent by certified mail to the Member.
  - c. The expulsion of any Member from any Program, after the effective date of such Program, shall not terminate its responsibility to contribute its share of contributions, or funds, to any fund Program in which it participated, nor its responsibility to provide requested data for the period(s) in which it participated.

### D. Cancellation by the Authority of Coverage under a Program:

1. Upon the occurrence of any default, the Board may temporarily cancel all rights of the defaulting Member in any Program in which such Member is in default until such time as the condition causing default is corrected.

## Exhibit D

2. Upon the occurrence of any default, the Board, with at least a two-thirds (2/3) vote, may cancel permanently all rights of the defaulting Member in any Program in which such Member is in default.
- E. No remedy contained herein is intended to be exclusive. No delay or failure to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default, shall impair any such right or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof.
- F. In the event any provision in any of the Governing Documents is breached by either party and thereafter waived by the other party, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach hereunder.
- G. Except as stated in this Article or elsewhere in the Governing Documents, neither withdrawal nor expulsion shall extinguish the rights and obligations of the parties incurred prior to such withdrawal or expulsion.

### **ARTICLE XVII. LEGAL REPRESENTATION**

- A. Legal counsel may be retained by the Board to advise on matters relating to the operation of the Authority and interpretation of the Governing Documents, including but not limited to the Memoranda of Coverage. In matters in which the parties' interests are adverse or potentially adverse, counsel for the Board shall only represent the Board and shall not represent any individual Member without the informed written consent of both parties.
- B. The Authority shall have the right to pay such legal counsel reasonable compensation for said services.

### **ARTICLE XVIII. EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS**

- A. The Board or Executive Committee may authorize any officer or officers, or any agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute any instrument in the name, and on behalf, of the Authority and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.
- B. Unless so authorized by the Board, no officer, agent, or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Authority by any contract or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any purpose or to any amount.

### **ARTICLE XXIV. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT AND INSURANCE**

- A. The Authority shall reimburse any Director who does not otherwise receive compensation for actual expenses incurred, for reasonable out of pocket expenses of the Director in the performance of his/her duty on behalf of the Authority.

## Exhibit D

- B. The Authority shall obtain insurance or provide other coverage (which may include self-insurance) indemnifying the directors, officers, and employees for personal liabilities arising out of wrongful acts in the discharge of their duties to the Authority.

### **ARTICLE XIX. NOTICES**

- A. Any notice to be given to any Member, in connection with these Bylaws, must be in writing (which may include facsimile or email) and will be deemed to have been given when deposited in the mail to the address specified by the Member to receive such notice. Any notice delivered by facsimile will be deemed to have been given when the facsimile transmission is complete. Any notice delivered by email will be deemed to have been given when the message is successfully sent. Any Member may, at any time, change the address to which such notice will be given by giving five (5) days written notice to the Authority.
- B. Any notice to or claim against the Authority shall be mailed or delivered to the mailing address of the Authority.

### **ARTICLE XX. EFFECTIVE DATE, AMENDMENTS, AND SUPREMACY**

- A. These Bylaws shall be effective immediately upon the date of adoption.
- B. Any amendments to these Bylaws shall be effective upon adoption, unless the Board in adopting them specifies otherwise, and shall supersede and cancel any prior Bylaws and/or amendments thereto.
- C. These Bylaws shall not be amended until at least 30 days after notice of the proposed amendment has been given to each Member.
- D. The adoption or amendment of these Bylaws shall not affect the Agreement or any amendments thereto. Any provision in these Bylaws which is inconsistent with the Agreement shall be superseded by the Agreement but only to the extent of the inconsistency.

### **ARTICLE XXI. POWER OF DESIGNATED PARTY**

- A. Pursuant to Government Code section 6509, the Authority is subject to the restrictions upon the manner of exercising the power of the City of Rancho Cucamonga. In the event that the City of Rancho Cucamonga ceases to be a member of the Authority, the Authority's power shall be subject to the restrictions applicable to the City of Sebastopol.